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          1  COMMITTEE ON LAND USE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: It's literally

          3  going to be a minute. I'll go through very quick,

          4  literally a minute. We can do both at the same time.

          5  Oliver is not here.

          6                 All right, everybody has other

          7  Committee meetings, including myself, and we will go

          8  through this extremely quickly.

          9                 20065077 HK -- Tony walked out so we

         10  have no quorum. It would have been a minute and a

         11  half literally. All right, Councilman Seabrook. Lock

         12  the doors.

         13                 20065077 HKQ. It is a landmarking, or

         14  Landmark Preservation Commission. John Liu, for

         15  Fitzgerald Ginsburg Mansions in Bayside Avenue.

         16                 C050461 HAK. Councilman Barron's

         17  district. It is a UDAAP. Granville Payne Housing for

         18  103 residential units.

         19                 LU No. 530. Council Member Arroyo's

         20  district. It is a UDAAP. C050502 HAX. Development of

         21  a nine-story residential building for 88 dwelling

         22  units.

         23                 LU No. 634 has been laid over in the

         24  Subcommittee. LU No. 635, Council Member Arroyo's

         25  District. School site selection for an intermediate
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          2  high school facility. UDAAP. LU No. 624, Council

          3  Member Arroyo. Council Member Arroyo's district.

          4  626, LU No. 626. Council Member Foster's district.

          5  20065098 HAX. And since the hour is late, if there

          6  is no objection, my colleagues, if there is no

          7  objection by my colleagues, I'd like to do the

          8  disapproval in the same vote.

          9                 Any objection?

         10                 Councilman Yassky's district,

         11  20065076 HKK. It is the landmarking of 184 Kent

         12  Avenue. That is the only one on the agenda, that

         13  will be a motion to disapprove. A yes vote to the

         14  roll call is approval on everything except 184 Kent,

         15  that will be a disapproval.

         16                 Please call the roll.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Katz.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Aye on all.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Quinn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Rivera.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Avella.
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          2                 (No response.)

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Baez.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Dilan.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMMITTEE: Aye on all.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Felder.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gioia.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Koppell.

         14                 (No response.)

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: McMahon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I vote aye on

         17  the motion to approve; I vote no on the motion to

         18  disapprove.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: And yes on the

         20  landmarking.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Sanders.

         22                 (No response.)

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Seabrook.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gentile.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye on all,

          3  except 20065076, I abstain.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Palma.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Aye.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: By a vote of 13

          7  in the affirmative, none in the negative, the

          8  coupled items are approved, with the exception of

          9  the motion to disapprove for 184 Kent, which

         10  currently stands at a vote of 11 in favor, one

         11  opposed and one abstention, and roll remains open.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: We are leaving the

         13  roll open.

         14                 We now have a joint hearing with

         15  waterfronts, if someone can find Councilman Yassky.

         16  We have a joint hearing on Waterfronts. The roll

         17  will be left open until the end of that hearing.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please sign the

         19  reports.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Please sign the

         21  reports, Council members. There is a joint hearing

         22  now on Waterfronts.

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: But it's the

         24  same hearing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: It's the same
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          2  hearing so the roll will be left open.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Councilman

          4  Avella.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: You have to vote

          6  aye and no.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: If I may?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Excuse me. I'm sure

          9  the conversations are very important. We have a vote

         10  being taken now. If everyone can just give a little

         11  order, that would be great. If everyone can give a

         12  little order, that would be great.

         13                 Councilman Avella.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair. I apologize for leaving but there was

         16  another vote going on on the 14th floor and I was

         17  needed for quorum.

         18                 I vote yes on the motion to approve,

         19  and no on the motion to disapprove.

         20                 And if I may just make a brief

         21  comment? I'm very disappointed in the Subcommittee

         22  and the Land Use Committee. You cannot tell me that

         23  all the arguments against doing a landmark

         24  designation wouldn't have been totally different if

         25  the individual Council member had a different
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          2  opinion.

          3                 So, on the bottom line it comes down

          4  to is this a good thing or not? And it was, and I'm

          5  just embarrassed at this point for the entire

          6  Council.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Councilman Koppell,

          8  how do you vote?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I already

         10  voted.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: No, no, you weren't

         12  on the tape.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye on all.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: He votes aye on

         15  all.

         16                 Councilman Martinez.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: What are we

         18  voting on?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: We're voting aye on

         20  the agenda, except for 184 Kent. That is a

         21  disapproval, so it is also an aye.

         22                 If you want to deny the landmarking,

         23  it is an aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye on all.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Aye on all, Council
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          2  Member Martinez.

          3                 The vote stands at -- it's all right,

          4  we're going to leave the roll open. So, he's fine,

          5  okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Sixteen in the

          7  approval of the agenda, with the exception of 184

          8  Kent, which is 13 to approve the disapproval, three

          9  against, and one abstention.

         10                 The roll will stay open til the end

         11  of the joint hearing with Landmarks.

         12                 (Recess taken.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: We have some people

         14  to testify and then some advocates for the

         15  waterfront.

         16                 This is a joint hearing. This is a

         17  joint hearing of Land Use and the Committee on

         18  Waterfronts. If I can have some order, that would be

         19  great.

         20                 As many of you know, there are

         21  rezonings happening all around the City of New York.

         22  One of the issues that keeps coming up time and time

         23  again is the City's treatment of the waterfront

         24  regulations and rules that surround the waterfront

         25  development, whether or not it should be developed,
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          2  and how we need to look at it as a whole, as we move

          3  forward.

          4                 Councilman Yassky, who I understand

          5  is the new nickname"Green Man," this is what I

          6  understand, has been very active in researching and

          7  assessing the situation that we have on the

          8  waterfronts of the City of New York, I would like to

          9  ask him as the co-chair of the hearing to say a few

         10  words.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Chair

         12  Katz. First of all, I just want to thank you for

         13  convening this hearing. I know how busy the Land Use

         14  Committee agenda is, and I appreciate you taking the

         15  time out to look at this, because I do think this is

         16  a critical issue that is going to play out over the

         17  next couple of years, and what this is is, as you

         18  know, as I'm sure every Committee member knows, our

         19  zoning resolution contains some very innovative

         20  provisions on the waterfront, and what they require

         21  is that waterfront developers, developers of

         22  privately-owned waterfront property, make publicly

         23  available the very edge waterfront space for public

         24  space, an esplanade, walkway, how ever it is to be

         25  developed, but they require private development
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          2  along the waterfront to create public space on the

          3  waterfront.

          4                 Now this is a kind of a hybrid of an

          5  idea that then you're left with. You're left with

          6  privately-owned space and privately-maintained and

          7  managed space, that is nonetheless supposed to

          8  function as parks effectively. That is an idea that

          9  I think can work, but the experience with it in

         10  other jurisdictions have done it, shows that it's

         11  fraught with problems and it's difficult to make it

         12  work. Not that it can't be. My position is by no

         13  means this can't work. My position is it requires

         14  some very active government intervention to make

         15  this idea work. And as we now, there have been a

         16  couple of places --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Excuse me. Either

         18  we need to close the door so that the hearing here

         19  is not interrupted, or we need to ask them to lower

         20  their conversations. Thanks.

         21                 Chair Yassky.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         23                 Okay, that's defending my rights to

         24  speak.

         25                 These waterfront provisions have been
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          2  in effect, I think, since 1987, '97 -- '93, and have

          3  come into effect a few times, but not really in the

          4  widespread use, because we have not done the

          5  tremendous amount of work for the development.

          6                 Now, as we're on the verge of very,

          7  very significant amounts of waterfront development,

          8  certainly in Brooklyn, as the Chair knows, having

          9  pushed through the Greenpoint Williamsburg rezoning,

         10  and in Queens, a little bit in Long Island City and

         11  much more to come, and very likely in the Bronx.

         12                 I thought that this was an

         13  appropriate time for us to look at these waterfront

         14  zoning rules. First of all, to ask the question

         15  whether there are any tinkering that's needed to be

         16  done, but even if not, to make sure that the focus

         17  on implementation is there so this works out well,

         18  the risk being that I think we are going to hear

         19  from Committee staff what we have found is that the

         20  other places who have tried this, unfortunately

         21  often times the private owners will try and make

         22  what is supposed to be public space effectively

         23  private. So, there is supposed to be a public

         24  access, but you wind up in kind of a footlong, a

         25  foot-wide entranceway through some hedges and people
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          2  really don't, the public really doesn't feel that

          3  they can get to the waterfront.

          4                 That's the issue before us, Chair

          5  Katz. Thank you, again, for devoting the time to

          6  this.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you. We have

          8  some housekeeping to do, I believe. Councilman

          9  Sanders and Councilman Perkins need to vote.

         10                 An aye on all is an aye on the entire

         11  agenda, except for 184 Kent which was a motion to

         12  disapprove. So an aye on all is an aye on the entire

         13  agenda, is also an aye on the disapproval of 184

         14  Kent.

         15                 Councilman Sanders.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well, Madam

         17  Chair, I thank you very much for this opportunity,

         18  and I usually vote with the Chair. Which way did the

         19  Chair vote on this?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Aye on all.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Councilman Perkins.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Aye on all.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 State your name for the record and

          5  your capacity.

          6                 And if anybody wants to testify, you

          7  need to fill out appearance cards. And we are going

          8  to have testimony over there.

          9                 While we're waiting, just let me

         10  introduce Councilman Simcha Felder. Councilman

         11  Michael McMahon, Councilman Vinnie Gentile,

         12  Councilman Michael Nelson, Councilman Joe Addabbo,

         13  Councilman James Sanders, and Councilman Bill

         14  Perkins are here, and of course, the Chair of the

         15  Waterfronts, Councilman Yassky. Please start.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Madam Chair,

         17  I want to correct the record on the 184 Kent.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Council Member

         19  Perkins.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No on the

         21  184.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: You want to vote

         23  for designation?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you. So

         25  noted.
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          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: (Not identified

          3  for the record.) We have a powerpoint presentation

          4  here. Unfortunately it's not on. Maybe just in the

          5  interest of time I'll turn the computer over here

          6  and we have copies we can distribute to those that

          7  are here.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just tell us

          9  what it is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Yes, tell us what

         11  it is.

         12                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Great. That's

         13  fine.

         14                 Thank you, Chair Yassky and Chair

         15  Katz for your patience. The topic of today's hearing

         16  is Waterfront Access as an Adjunct to Real Estate

         17  Development. It's a lengthy title, and the point of

         18  the hearing today is really just to look at where

         19  has waterfront access been created in New York City,

         20  and how has that access performed? In anticipation

         21  of this hearing, Council staff took a look at a

         22  number of different places around the City where

         23  waterfront access has been created.

         24                 In a number of these places, the

         25  waterfront access was not created pursuant to the
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          2  waterfront zoning regulation, because it predated

          3  the zoning regulations. It was created in the

          4  seventies and in the eighties as well. We took a

          5  look at specifically four different places, really

          6  just to get a firsthand knowledge of what the scope

          7  of ideas was and what we might learn from as we go

          8  forward with much larger rezonings, Flushing,

          9  Greenpoint, all of those.

         10                 The first type of waterfront access

         11  that we looked at was the Leows in Brooklyn. And the

         12  Leows is a different type in a sense that it was

         13  created as of right, and it was created quite

         14  recently. It was opened in 2003.

         15                 Compared to other places, this site

         16  had, you could only enter the site if the --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Hold on. What are

         18  we looking for? Because it's very distracting.

         19  Copies of this? Can we make copies of that? Okay, so

         20  we're making copies. Yes, if you can give them out

         21  to the Council members, whoever, whichever Council

         22  members want one. Whoever is listening to this

         23  hearing, and have never been at a Council hearing

         24  before, we are normally much more organized.

         25                 Go ahead, please.
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          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.

          3                 As I was saying, the Leows in

          4  Brooklyn was developed as of right, and it's a great

          5  model because the Leows's staff worked directly with

          6  the communities, specifically with the Gowanus Canal

          7  Community Development Corporation to create input on

          8  the actual site and to get ideas.

          9                 One of the negative impacts, we

         10  noticed that it was detailed with signage as private

         11  property and some of the areas were actually

         12  breaking down. But in general we think it's a great

         13  way for waterfront access to be created.

         14                 A second model that we looked at was

         15  Castle Hill in the Bronx, which was created pursuant

         16  to a restrictive declaration, and this was done some

         17  time ago in the 1980s, but the deal was that the

         18  developer would be able to develop a number of

         19  properties as of right, and in the course of

         20  development create a new waterfront access area and

         21  convey that property to the Parks Department. This

         22  is a great deal because the City benefits from new

         23  parks. There was no develop or maintenance

         24  requirement, which differs from other properties

         25  created by restrictive declarations. Specifically
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          2  one we looked at, which is the Glick development on

          3  the East River, from 34th Street to 37th Street. As

          4  I mentioned, this was an esplanade that was required

          5  by the restrictive declaration. There was access

          6  that was created from the south along 34th Street

          7  near the now East River Ferry Terminal, and from

          8  37th Street underneath the FDR Drive.

          9                 As I mentioned with the maintenance,

         10  the developer was required to provide approximately

         11  $500,000 to the Comptroller's Office to establish a

         12  trust and agency account, and this money remains

         13  intact today. There's actually additional funds put

         14  in and today there is approximately $4 million in

         15  there.

         16                 This money is appropriated each year

         17  for maintenance. I think in Fiscal Year '05 so far

         18  the Parks Department has used about $116,000. So,

         19  the model is working, and one thing, just to note

         20  that's interesting, is that this was an

         21  interest-bearing account, I think there's only been

         22  about $2.2 million deposited, yet there's $4 million

         23  now. It could be interesting to consider different

         24  sources or uses for this interest in terms of other

         25  parks needs around the City.
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          2                 Another development we looked at --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Can I interrupt you

          4  for just one second?

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Councilman Lanza

          7  needs to get to another Committee hearing where they

          8  are also voting. So I would like the vote. An aye

          9  vote is a yes on the entire agenda, except for 184

         10  Kent. It is a disapproval of 184 Kent's landmarking.

         11  So, it's aye on all if you want to go with the

         12  Committee and the Chair.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Yes, Madam

         14  Chair. Thank you very much, and I vote aye.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you.

         16                 Please continue.

         17                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: As I was

         18  saying, the Costco in Queens was developed pursuant

         19  to the waterfront zoning regulations. The waterfront

         20  access there is an esplanade along the parking lot,

         21  and can be accessed from two points; one along the

         22  street which requires going through the property,

         23  and another by a fence adjacent to rainy park. And

         24  we do have photos of that that we can share as well,

         25  but it's interesting to note, because the dual
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          2  concerns of the developer with shopping carts being

          3  removed from the site and access to the site, there

          4  are posts that sometimes make it difficult for folks

          5  to enter and exit, but it has been successful in

          6  many people's minds. And it was interesting to note

          7  that during the site visit we did see maintenance

          8  workers cleaning the site, which was good to see as

          9  well.

         10                 The final place that we looked at was

         11  the shore tower site in Astoria. And this is one of

         12  the earliest restrictive declarations that was

         13  created, and it was interesting because there's a

         14  very sterile esplanade that was created; however,

         15  when we looked at the actual Land Use agreements

         16  that were inked in the early 1970s, we saw a very

         17  imaginative diagram that detailed esplanade with

         18  trees and pedestrian areas and this was very much

         19  different from what was there today.

         20                 This was interesting because it

         21  pointed out that maybe some of the difficulties with

         22  enforcing some of these restrictive declarations and

         23  we hope that today we can learn about how some of

         24  those actions have been changed as part of the

         25  waterfront zoning regulations and how this will
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          2  impact future waterfront open space areas that I

          3  mentioned before, including Greenpoint Williamsburg,

          4  Flushing, Long Island City and Staten Island.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you.

          7  And I just want to thank the Waterfront Committee

          8  staff and the Land Use staff for the preparation

          9  that went into this.

         10                 I know we're going to hear now, I'm

         11  going to call the City Planning folks to come and

         12  testify. Bill Woods, and whoever else, please come

         13  forward and testify.

         14                 While they're coming up, I just want

         15  to point out that I think that these four visits

         16  illustrate very, very clearly some of the issues

         17  here, and one of the properties, you know, what the

         18  developer actually did was different than what's

         19  promised. And once it's done, it's very hard -- and

         20  their building has been built. You lose a lot of

         21  leverage. That's part one. Part two is, even the

         22  Leows property, which is where the physical

         23  structure is what was promised, there is a sign

         24  there that says private property, and I think that,

         25  you know, for many people that's going to discourage
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          2  the public use. And I think that one of the issues

          3  that I'm hoping that we're going to address today is

          4  how the Department of City Planning and the rest of

          5  the Administration planned to make sure that those

          6  kind of issues are minimized.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: For City Planning I

          8  have Robert Pirani, Sue Tilden, Alan Gentile, and

          9  Helen Manogue.

         10                 So, if there's anybody else who wants

         11  to testify, you have to hand in an appearance sheet.

         12  If not, that's great.

         13                 Mr. Woods.

         14                 MR. WOODS: Okay, great. Good morning,

         15  Chair Katz and Chair Yassky, and members of the Land

         16  Use Committee and Waterfront. My name is Wilbur

         17  Woods, and I am the Director of the Waterfront and

         18  Open Space Planning for the New York City Department

         19  of City Planning. I am expecting Joshua Laird,

         20  Director of Planning for the New York City

         21  Department of Parks and Recreation. I understand

         22  he's stuck in traffic but he's going to be here

         23  momentarily. Josh is going to join me and answer

         24  questions. So, if by chance he's not here when I

         25  finish, please reserve the right to have us back up.
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          2                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          3  testify today about the management of

          4  privately-owned waterfront public access areas. I

          5  would like to briefly review the background of the

          6  City's approach to management of these waterfront

          7  spaces.

          8                 As was mentioned in the presentation

          9  that you heard before, during the 1970s and 1980s,

         10  there were various private waterfront development

         11  proposals that presented opportunities to create new

         12  waterfront access.

         13                 These were typically discussed as

         14  part of the development process, and then made a

         15  part of the site-specific restrictive declaration.

         16                 There was an ad hoc nature to these

         17  discussions and they were usually associated with

         18  the rezoning of property from manufacturing to

         19  residential or commercial, as well as with the

         20  issuance of special permits.

         21                 As of right developments on the

         22  waterfront were not required to provide public

         23  access at that time. You have expressed to us

         24  specific interest in certain examples of restrictive

         25  declarations from this earlier period. One project
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          2  that you cited and that staff mentioned was

          3  Rivergate Project on First Avenue, between East 37th

          4  Street and East 38th Street. This was approved in

          5  1988, restrictive declaration D-109. Pursuant to the

          6  CEQR review of the zoning change from manufacturing

          7  to residential, the project was required to mitigate

          8  an open space impact by constructing an esplanade

          9  and esplanade access on publicly-owned property.

         10                 The developer constructed the

         11  esplanade area and the esplanade access area, and

         12  there was a trust and agency account set up for use

         13  by the Parks Department for maintenance and

         14  security, which you heard about earlier.

         15                 We believe that this is the only

         16  trust and agency account set up for a waterfront

         17  esplanade. When Josh Laird gets here, he'll be able

         18  to answer further questions about this account.

         19                 As I've indicated, however, this was

         20  not an instance of privately-owned and managed

         21  waterfront space, rather it involved the developer

         22  contribution to the improvement of public property

         23  as a CEQR mitigation.

         24                 Another example you have mentioned is

         25  the North Shore Towers Development in Astoria,
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          2  Queens. In that case a restrictive declaration D-4

          3  was signed on January 15th, 1975, and the agreement

          4  was to create a waterfront promenade open to the

          5  public with the pedestrian and bicycle path.

          6                 The project was not built until the

          7  1980s and it was built with a different site plan.

          8                 The project incorporated a waterfront

          9  promenade, which is continuous from one side of the

         10  project to the other; however, you have noted in

         11  your letter to us that there were certain conditions

         12  before that may not have been met.

         13                 The Department is in the process of

         14  researching the development history of that project

         15  and we'll have to report back to you with our

         16  findings.

         17                 Castle Hill and Shore Haven are two

         18  waterfront projects in the Bronx that were subjects

         19  of restrictive declarations approved in 1988, and

         20  they demonstrate some additional mechanisms for

         21  shaping waterfront public access.

         22                 In the case of Castle Hill, the

         23  applicant conveyed the waterfront property to the

         24  City and was required to construct the bike and

         25  pedestrian path.
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          2                 At Shore Haven, the applicant is

          3  required to complete the public esplanade as

          4  residential units are completed. The Shore Haven

          5  declaration includes a maintenance and operation

          6  agreement with Parks Department and provides

          7  security in the amount of 125 percent of the

          8  estimated cost of construction and 125 percent of

          9  the estimated cost of maintenance.

         10                 We learned quite a bit from these

         11  projects in the 1970s and 1980s that we didn't use

         12  to set up improved mechanisms under the 1993

         13  Waterfront Zoning Regulations.

         14                 These regulations require that in

         15  mid- to high-density residential and commercial

         16  districts along the water, developments must include

         17  a short public walkway along the length of the shore

         18  line.

         19                 The shore public walkway must also be

         20  accessible at spaced intervals by means of upland

         21  connections, and the waterfront zoning also

         22  establishes a system of visual corridors in which no

         23  construction is permitted.

         24                 Section 62-624 sets out the

         25  requirements and maintenance of waterfront public
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          2  access areas, and Section 62-14 provides for

          3  requirements for recordation.

          4                 All of the required public access

          5  areas of the plans that are certified by the

          6  Chairperson of City Planning must be recorded in a

          7  signed, restrictive declaration.

          8                 The declaration must include a

          9  Maintenance and Operation Agreement between the

         10  applicant and the Parks Department.

         11                 A bond is required to be posted to

         12  ensure that the public access areas are maintained

         13  in accordance with the declaration and are closed

         14  only at authorized times.

         15                 Fulfillment of these requirements is

         16  a condition of receipt of Certificates of Occupancy

         17  for the adjoining development.

         18                 The Greenpoint-Williamsburg rezoning

         19  has used the principles of the 1993 Waterfront

         20  zoning and then tailors these provisions to the

         21  specific characteristics of the area and establishes

         22  a plan for incremental development of a coordinated

         23  network of open spaces through a Waterfront Access

         24  Plan, what we called a WAP.

         25                 The WAP allows for the aggregation of
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          2  public access and visual corridor requirements,

          3  among multiple zoning lots within a parcel. It sets

          4  up special public access provisions parcel by parcel

          5  and it allows a phase development of required public

          6  access on large sites.

          7                 During the public review process of

          8  the Greenpoint Williamsburg WAP, concerns were

          9  raised about several things.

         10                 Number one, fragmented management of

         11  waterfront esplanade.

         12                 Two, the potential for different

         13  standards of maintenance; and

         14                 Three, the risks of creeping

         15  privatization of the public access areas.

         16                 So, alternative provisions were

         17  placed in Section 62-624, the maintenance and

         18  operation of waterfront public access areas, to

         19  allow owners to join together for the joint

         20  operation and maintenance of multiple parcels, and

         21  also an important provision was adopted that

         22  encourages the transfer of the water's edge to

         23  public ownership, by providing the developer with

         24  some incentives, that is including fixed maintenance

         25  obligation, fixed funding obligation for the
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          2  completion of capital construction, and no liability

          3  for personal injury claims, provided that the injury

          4  is not the result of the owner's negligence.

          5                 In the event of transfer the zoning

          6  computations for the developer zoning lot continued

          7  to include front transferred property and unaffected

          8  by public ownership.

          9                 So, these are some of the ways that

         10  the Department of City Planning is working to

         11  improve the maintenance and operation mechanisms in

         12  the zoning resolution.

         13                 With the pace of waterfront

         14  development picking up, we will soon have some more

         15  concrete examples to examine and evaluate.

         16                 There is a strong parallel here with

         17  the regulations of privately-owned public spaces

         18  elsewhere in the City. Those regulations that are

         19  sometimes called POPS, those regulations have been

         20  consistently improved over the years that reflect

         21  our experience with actual developments.

         22                 We look forward to working with you

         23  and the Waterfronts and Land Use Committees, towards

         24  our mutual goal of attractive waterfront public

         25  access areas that are easily accessible, handsomely
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          2  designed, and well-maintained.

          3                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

          4  to testify, and I will be glad to answer any

          5  questions, and I hope that Joshua Laird will be here

          6  soon.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you. Thank

          8  you.

          9                 Before we go to questions, I believe

         10  Council Member Sanders wanted to make a statement.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes. Thank

         12  you very much, Chair Katz, and Chair Yassky, for

         13  this very, very necessary hearing that we're having

         14  today. As the Councilman of the district in New York

         15  City with the most waterfront and that's rivaled

         16  only by the very honorable Joe Addabbo, I take great

         17  interest in this hearing. All too often the public

         18  is excluded from its natural right, the public

         19  space. We do have to find the proper balance, of

         20  course, between -- or the space use for

         21  manufacturing and public space, and then, of course,

         22  as you mentioned earlier, sir, the balance that we

         23  have to find to find the financial ability to

         24  maintain and operate these sites.

         25                 I'm just going to encourage you, sir,
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          2  that in my district, the Parks Department could be

          3  more assertive. There are many parcels of land that

          4  need to be grabbed now for the public use. And if I

          5  could just find a way to encourage the Park

          6  Department, because once it goes into private use it

          7  is pure Hades to return it to a public use.

          8                 So, I did want to encourage you and

          9  to interject that into the thinking of this hearing.

         10  I'm sure that that is part of what Chairman Yassky's

         11  original vision was, so I wanted to say those

         12  things.

         13                 Thank you very much, my chairs. And

         14  thank you, very much, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Chair

         16  Sanders. And of course, you're correct. I think

         17  those are very important points.

         18                 I just have a few questions, Mr.

         19  Woods. First about these particular properties that

         20  we'll talk about in the staff presentation, because

         21  I was very interested by these findings.

         22                 Am I correct in thinking that a

         23  private property sign, if the sign says private

         24  property at the entrance to the esplanade, would you

         25  consider that a, you know, inconsistent with the
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          2  obligation of the property owner in a waterfront

          3  zoning property?

          4                 MR. WOODS: The signage? Yes. There

          5  is, in the zoning requirements for this, there is a

          6  waterfront public access sign. There's a design for

          7  it, it's got a big blue W and below that it's

          8  supposed to be hours of operation and a number to

          9  call.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So they are

         11  required to have a sign that makes it clear, open to

         12  the public?

         13                 MR. WOODS: Yes. That may not occur in

         14  those cases where it's an as-of-right development

         15  that did not, as in the case of the Leows

         16  development, they were not required to do that under

         17  zoning. So, it may not have that kind of sign, and

         18  there's no way we can really force them to put that

         19  in.

         20                 But in the other cases there is a

         21  sign, or should be a sign.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, yes. To be

         23  clear, what I thought these four examples were

         24  useful for is, and none of them were created under

         25  the waterfront zoning, but rather since they're the
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          2  examples out there, they kind of help us think

          3  through some of the issues that might arise.

          4                 I think the signage issue really is

          5  critical because it's not, it's not just the

          6  physical characteristics of the space, it's also,

          7  you know, a welcoming feel to the public for it to

          8  be really useful.

          9                 MR. WOODS: We have an opportunity to

         10  review these projects in what they call the

         11  certification process, before the project actually

         12  gets a Buildings Department approval and has to be

         13  certified, and in that certification we try to make

         14  sure that the signs are located on the map, on the

         15  site plan, at the appropriate entrance points. That

         16  is at the entrance from the public areas, and also

         17  if it's linked to other properties along the

         18  waterfront itself, we try to put a sign in at those

         19  linkages as well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: On the Astoria

         21  Project with the restrictive declaration, that, and

         22  I understand what you said, that you're looking into

         23  that to see if you think it's consistent or not,

         24  just so I understand the enforcement mechanism, if

         25  the Department determines that the shore walk is not
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          2  consistent with the restrictive declaration or does

          3  not, that developer or property owner did not meet

          4  their obligation, what follows from that?

          5                 MR. WOODS: Well, as I understand it,

          6  there was some change made in the --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let's not use

          8  that example.

          9                 MR. WOODS: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: In any of these

         11  buildings, with any ones we're going to do, after

         12  the fact, you know, two years from now, the building

         13  has been built and the owner has a C of O and then

         14  when you go back and you find out, or you determine

         15  that it's inconsistent, what then happens? How is it

         16  enforced?

         17                 MR. WOODS: The mechanisms themselves

         18  are quite specific in the zoning now.

         19                 We have these performance bonds that

         20  are posted with the Parks Department, so that's your

         21  first line of defense so-to-speak, and if those have

         22  for some reason already been drawn down and there

         23  still is a problem, there is also a possibility of

         24  working with the Buildings Department to hold up the

         25  certificate of occupancy if that hasn't been given,
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          2  and ultimately there is the possibility of a

          3  lawsuit. But the mechanisms that we have that have a

          4  kind of hierarchy to them, should be used in their

          5  appropriate timing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: If somebody

          7  builds and esplanade and then a year later somebody

          8  from the public finds that it's fenced off --

          9                 MR. WOODS: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can an owner be

         11  fined for that?

         12                 MR. WOODS: I don't know that there is

         13  a fine. There is certainly some opportunity to look

         14  at the approvals and go in and negotiate with the

         15  owner, or to go back to the owner and say, look,

         16  there's a problem here. You've got a certificate of

         17  occupancy, based upon an open way, and built to

         18  these standards and you have violated that. Let's

         19  get that up to speed. And that's the first thing we

         20  would do.

         21                 Then in, I would say almost every

         22  case I know of --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: One would expect

         24  them to comply.

         25                 MR. WOODS: We expect them and they do
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          2  comply. One of the problems may be that the

          3  developer who did the project has been sold the

          4  units, the units get taken over by home-owners, the

          5  home-owners form a home-owner group, and so that's a

          6  new entity in terms of management. And they might

          7  have to go through a level of education in order to

          8  bring them up to speed.

          9                 By the way joining me today here is

         10  Joshua Laird, who is the Director of Planning for

         11  Department of Parks and Recreation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I just have one

         13  more question, and I guess this is for Mr. Laird.

         14                 Now looking forward here at all the

         15  development we're expecting in Brooklyn, in Queens,

         16  on the waterfront, can you just describe briefly the

         17  process that you are putting in place, if any, to

         18  look ahead of time at what the developers are

         19  planning to do with their waterfront public access,

         20  to avoid the following: To avoid, you know, coming

         21  to you at the end of the process, looking for a C of

         22  O and you say, well, it should have been done

         23  differently in 20 different ways. So, it's, you

         24  know, just too expensive to fix and it's really not

         25  worth it to force it, but had you been able to tell

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON LAND USE

          2  them ahead of time, they would have done it right.

          3  What are you doing to make sure that doesn't happen?

          4                 MR. LAIRD: Sure. And first, my

          5  apologies for walking in so late. It took over an

          6  hour to get here from the arsenal.

          7                 I think the most important thing

          8  we're doing to address your point is that the Parks

          9  Department, with the assistance of the Economic

         10  Development Corporation, has retained a consultant,

         11  the landscape architect, who is going to be

         12  developing a set of design guidelines for the agency

         13  for the entire esplanade.

         14                 Our goal is that as each developer

         15  comes to the table, that we will be able to hand

         16  them a drawing that is not a design template for

         17  them to follow but rather a set of expectations, if

         18  they know going into their design process and

         19  hopefully they're bringing creative designers to the

         20  table, that we'll be able to tell them

         21  programmatically what our expectations are

         22  horticulturally, what our expectations are, and from

         23  a maintenance and operation standpoint what our

         24  expectations are.

         25                 And we think that avoids this sort of
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          2  getting too far down the path and then having to go

          3  back and say, no, no, that's not what we wanted.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I understand

          5  Council Member Addabbo has questions.

          6                 Before you do, Chair Katz, if I may,

          7  I understand I'm needed for a quorum across the

          8  street at the Education Committee. I've been

          9  promised that if I go I can vote and return

         10  immediately, so I'm going to excuse myself for that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And let me advise

         13  the audience, though, because this is a Waterfronts

         14  Committee policy, that Chair Katz agreed to, that I

         15  am asking the witnesses other than the government

         16  witness to stick to three minutes through

         17  presentation. Your written statements will be put on

         18  the record, and you know, there will be opportunity

         19  for questions, but I am going to ask people to stick

         20  to the three-minute timetable for the presentations.

         21                 Thank you. Thank you, Chair Katz.

         22                 Council Member Addabbo. Yes, please

         23  continue.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: First let me

         25  thank Chairman Yassky and Chairwoman Katz for doing
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          2  this hearing today. It's a most important hearing

          3  for the residents of the City, and I also want to

          4  thank my fellow colleague, Council Member Sanders

          5  for mentioning me as we mentioned the property down

          6  in Rockaway, and again I want to thank Mr. Woods and

          7  Mr. Laird. It's good to see you again. Thanks for

          8  being here for your time and testimony.

          9                 Sharing Council Member Sanders'

         10  concern about the area in Rockaway, you know the

         11  area in Rockaway, it is kind of unique, to say the

         12  least. We have an area where private development has

         13  happened. In the form of, say, for instance, Duane

         14  Reade, that really did block off a lot of access to

         15  the waterfront, but adjacent to it we have a

         16  beautiful new Tribute Park, paying tribute to those

         17  who were lost in 9/11. You know, again, this is a

         18  great situation where we have beautiful park

         19  property, as well as good private development. So,

         20  you know, not every area in Rockaway is that

         21  fortunate, that we can have that kind of use.

         22                 My question is, Mr. Laird, is this,

         23  you know, acknowledging the real estate development

         24  that is going on on our waterfront and obviously the

         25  issues there, and addressing those issues, which
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          2  steps has the Department of Parks taken to possibly

          3  take up some of the waterfront property to protect

          4  it as possible park land?

          5                 Has Parks Department taken active

          6  steps to, you know, protect certain areas of the

          7  City's waterfront to make sure it's accessible and

          8  maintained as park land?

          9                 MR. LAIRD: We do target certain areas

         10  of the waterfront as potential sort of open space

         11  sites.

         12                 Generally speaking, the properties we

         13  have gone after, in terms of acquisition, have been

         14  properties that are already publicly owned, where

         15  we've tried to get them into our inventory to

         16  protect them. Whether, you know, in some cases even

         17  absent funding to actually develop the site, we felt

         18  that it was important to make sure the site would be

         19  available.

         20                 We've also, for sort of recreational,

         21  developed targeted areas of the City that have

         22  ecological value that have remaining wetlands,

         23  particularly areas along the West Shore of Staten

         24  Island, where there are a lot of derelict industrial

         25  sites that have remaining either sort of natural,
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          2  sort of historical wetland areas or sites that have

          3  just sort of emerged through the lack of use or lack

          4  of activity in the area.

          5                 So, we do -- you know, acquisitions

          6  of private property are always tricky issue. There

          7  have been a few examples of sort of negotiated

          8  acquisitions, but for the most part we target

          9  already publicly-owned land, and there are -- I

         10  mean, if one were to walk around sort of on a map

         11  the waterfront of this City, just about every linear

         12  foot is the subject of somebody's plan for creating

         13  more open space and that's a great thing. It also

         14  goes to our partnerships, with a lot of the advocacy

         15  groups, non-profit groups out there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you. I

         17  acknowledge the difference between obviously the

         18  publicly-owned land and the privately-owned land,

         19  and obviously the jurisdiction of the City agency of

         20  the Parks Department; do you see this effort of the

         21  Parks Department in the near future, as far as

         22  protecting this waterfront access? Do you see it

         23  picking up with, again, this coming year? Obviously

         24  the Administration is saying the same. Do you see

         25  your efforts remaining the same, increasing or
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          2  decreasing?

          3                 MR. LAIRD: We see them increasing,

          4  sort of the interest and planning for the future of

          5  the waterfront has been sort of picking up velocity

          6  throughout the past few years, and we see that

          7  continuing. And in fact, in our own minds we are

          8  looking ahead, we're looking at what the census

          9  predicts for future years of this City, we're

         10  looking at our greenway master plan that was sort of

         11  laid out back in the early nineties, but now with

         12  the successive federal transportation bills,

         13  starting with ISTEA and now Safety Lew, the ability

         14  is start implementing.

         15                 And we've also I think developed,

         16  particularly over the past four years or so, an

         17  excellent working relationship with the other

         18  agencies that have a stake in the waterfront, City

         19  Planning, EDC, DCAS, DEP, DOT, are all getting

         20  together in one form or another to see how we can

         21  work together so that transportation projects on the

         22  waterfront have an opportunity to include an open

         23  space component, economic development projects, you

         24  know, from Hunts Point to the Bronx site on the

         25  Harlem River, the same, at the same time that EDC is
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          2  looking at opportunities to redevelop old industrial

          3  properties, we're working with them to see how the

          4  shore line can be transformed into public space.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

          6  very much. And thank you very much, Mr. Woods, for

          7  your time this morning.

          8                 I want to take this moment also to

          9  commend the staff of both committees for the work

         10  that was done in the study and to prepare this

         11  hearing. Again, I commend both staffs of the

         12  Waterfront and Land Use Committee and just request

         13  that in the future, if they can consider the

         14  southern part of the City, namely the Rockaways, in

         15  addressing this waterfront access issue, I'd

         16  certainly appreciate it.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you. We've

         19  been joined also by Councilman Gerson, who has a

         20  question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, just one.

         22  And I thank you, Madam Chair, for your indulgence

         23  for my late arrival. But my office has been

         24  represented there throughout. And as you know, this

         25  is an issue on which we have great concern.
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          2                 So, my one question, one question

          3  with two parts, but, we were talking about

          4  developing the waterfront, I'm glad to hear that

          5  you, in response to Council Member Addabbo's

          6  question, that you expect the pace to pick up. But

          7  one of the impediments in parts of our city in fact

          8  remains municipal, municipal uses, and the

          9  facilities on the waterfront or on waterfront piers,

         10  which impede access.

         11                 So, my question to you, is there in

         12  place an aggressive City policy plan to as

         13  aggressively as possible for the non-industrial

         14  spaces, seek alternative locations to move out, you

         15  know, wherever possible, these type of, for

         16  instance, you know as an example, Pier 42 on the

         17  East River which remains, I believe underutilized,

         18  but nevertheless -- facility, but nevertheless, the

         19  sanitation facility that is impeding or delaying the

         20  opening up of that pier to a very teaming adjacent

         21  community on the Lower East Side and Chinatown. So,

         22  my question, not restricted to that, but using that

         23  as an example, is there an aggressive kind of search

         24  and identification search and relocation policy in

         25  place where you're going to do whatever can be done
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          2  to relocate as many of these uses as possible, and

          3  then related to that, once they're opened up, is it

          4  the City's policy that, again, where there is no

          5  industrial and manufacturing use, that those spaces

          6  should be put under Parks Department jurisdiction as

          7  opposed to another department or some other

          8  governmental authority? As a matter of general

          9  policy, I would like you to address those two

         10  points.

         11                 MR. LAIRD: There is certainly no

         12  absolute policy that municipally owned land that is

         13  unused or under used should go to the Parks

         14  Department.

         15                 There is, though, a mechanism through

         16  which agencies can get together and talk about how,

         17  how municipal land should be used on the waterfront

         18  and it's not always appropriate that land come into

         19  the Parks Department. There are obviously other uses

         20  which are important uses, and sometimes those other

         21  uses can incorporate a public access component to

         22  them. But there is, through DCAS and EDC, a

         23  Waterfront Sites Committee that meets periodically

         24  and which agencies get together and talk about the

         25  disposition of City-owned waterfront property. So
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          2  there's the ability --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry,

          4  what is this group that you described?

          5                 MR. LAIRD: It's a group chaired by

          6  EDC and DCAS, that essentially meets periodically to

          7  talk about disposition of municipally owned

          8  waterfront property when there are specific issues

          9  to discuss.

         10                 So, the agency, there is a forum

         11  through which EDC and DCAS have a lot of

         12  jurisdiction, jurisdiction over a lot of the City's

         13  old industrial waterfront property. A lot of it has

         14  ended up in their portfolio, and there is a form to

         15  which other agencies can come to the table and talk

         16  about how that land is being used.

         17                 MR. WOODS: I just want to add to that

         18  statement that in answer to the example that you

         19  brought up, Pier 42 and also Pier 36 --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Adjoining

         21  piers for the record.

         22                 MR. WOODS: Right.

         23                 They are included in the brand new

         24  East River Waterfront Study that the City has put

         25  out, and I think that you can look forward to those
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          2  being used as publicly accessible open spaces. It's

          3  not clear yet what the entity will be that will take

          4  those over, it will probably be some combination of

          5  parks and perhaps other agencies, but the idea is

          6  that we are moving towards taking that Pier 42 and

          7  Pier 36. Thirty-six, as far as I understand, the

          8  Sanitation Department has agreed to take their

          9  material off of that and we should be able to move

         10  forward with using that in the very near future.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Madam

         12  Chair, I thank you. And once again, I commend your

         13  leadership for this hearing, and of course that of

         14  the Waterfront Committee.

         15                 I would just comment, Madam Chair,

         16  this is certainly very good news that we've heard

         17  reiterated about Piers 36 and 42. It's not so good

         18  news in my view, that from what I've heard is kind

         19  of a lack of a strong overarching policy, kind of --

         20  I would urge and hope that there would be a more

         21  aggressive proactive City policy, not just to wait

         22  and react to some development, but to throughout the

         23  City examine and take the lead in moving out, take

         24  the lead as part of a reopening of the waterfront,

         25  these facilities that are not just at Piers 36 and
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          2  42, but through on many of our pieces of waterfront

          3  property, and probably with adequate timing and good

          4  planning, by taking the lead we could generate

          5  expedited waterfront access.

          6                 So, I would urge that as a stronger,

          7  more overarching policy and I would hope that the

          8  general presumption would be that where there is no

          9  economic development, I'm a strong component of

         10  manufacturing where possible in industrial

         11  waterfront use where possible, but where there is no

         12  such use in the works, the presumption should be

         13  that waterfront property should be Parks Department

         14  property for all of the important reasons which go

         15  with that.

         16                 So, I urge this Committee and this

         17  Council to follow-up on those two points. I thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you.

         20                 I thank you both very much for your

         21  time and for your testimony today. I'm sure we'll be

         22  working with you in the months to come.

         23                 MR. WOODS: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you.

         25                 MR. LAIRD: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: We're going to call

          3  up in a panel, or two panels, Robert Pirani,

          4  Regional Plan Associates; Sue Tilden, Heyer And

          5  Gruel; and Alan Gentile from the Metropolitan

          6  Waterfront Alliance.

          7                 I'm going to ask that you keep your

          8  testimony to three minutes and to hand in any

          9  written testimony you might have would be great,

         10  okay?

         11                 I don't care what order you go in.

         12  It's up to you.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. PIRANI: Thank you, Councilwoman,

         15  and also Councilman Yassky, for holding this

         16  important hearing.

         17                 My name is Rob Pirani. I'm the

         18  Director of Environmental Programs for the Regional

         19  Plan Association, a non-profit civic and advocacy

         20  group here in New York City.

         21                 I have handed in some written

         22  testimony that I'll summarize right now. Just in

         23  terms of kind of the preamble, just to reaffirm what

         24  a few other speakers are upset about, the importance

         25  of this issue, the New York Harbor is one of the
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          2  regions --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Hold on a second.

          4                 MR. PIRANI: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I assume the

          6  Sergeant is timing this, right? I don't know of any

          7  other way to do it. Thanks.

          8                 I apologize, Mr. Pirani.

          9                 MR. PIRANI: It's okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Please go on.

         11                 MR. PIRANI: Just to reaffirm the

         12  importance of this issue, and the fact that the

         13  Harbor is a great open space resource, and really

         14  the waterfront is our gateway to that resource.

         15                 And, you know, secondly, that we

         16  really need to be thinking about this Gateway, about

         17  this waterfront, as a single resource. There is

         18  going to be great regional parks, Brooklyn Bridge

         19  Park, Hudson River Park. There are smaller

         20  neighborhood parks throughout the City. There is

         21  going to be these privately-created esplanades and

         22  street ends, but the reality is, is that the public,

         23  when a family goes down to the waterfront, they're

         24  not going to be thinking about this as a variety of

         25  spaces, they're going to be thinking about it as a
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          2  single experience. And our goal really should be

          3  creating, it should be to create a single waterfront

          4  that feels like a continuous public space, that a

          5  family could go, walk from their stoop, down the

          6  street to the esplanade to the regional park or to

          7  the playground on the waterfront. That large goal is

          8  really what we should be after.

          9                 You know, as a few people have

         10  mentioned, the creation of private public spaces,

         11  whether it's on the waterfront in New Jersey, as I

         12  think the other speakers can get into it in more

         13  detail, or in the Midtown Plaza, has really had a

         14  mixed record of success. We went out this summer and

         15  surveyed much as the City Council staff did,

         16  surveyed some of the public spaces that were out

         17  there, and similarly, some were great, some were

         18  lousy, and basically you got what you paid for, and

         19  by relying on the private sector to build to

         20  maintain these spaces, we're not going to have a

         21  uniformly successful waterfront.

         22                 Through the Greenpoint Williamsburg

         23  rezoning, a number of groups, including Regional

         24  Plan Association, testified in favor of creating

         25  publicly-owned space on the waterfront, and we were
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          2  obviously heartened that the City Council and the

          3  Administration took some of those ideas to heart and

          4  incorporated that thinking in the rezoning.

          5                 By enabling this transfer mechanism

          6  to happen, and by encouraging developers to take the

          7  privately created public spaces and turn them over

          8  to the Parks Department for long-term management, we

          9  think we can create some of those spaces.

         10                 You know, perhaps ideally the most

         11  direct approach, mapping the City's waterfront as a

         12  public street, and buying that property would be

         13  sort of the most direct path to that goal of a

         14  public waterfront. We can't always get there.

         15  Relying on that private sector to do some of that

         16  work certainly makes sense. The model that's in

         17  place now in Greenpoint Williamsburg is something

         18  that we can build on.

         19                 So, we recommend sort of four steps

         20  towards extending that approach. First of all, you

         21  should be looking at the City waterfront zoning text

         22  in institutionalizing the specific provision that's

         23  in Greenpoint Williamsburg, and having it apply to

         24  all waterfronts in the City.

         25                 Secondly, as Josh Laird mentioned,
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          2  they hired a landscape architect who developed an

          3  overall framework plan for the Greenpoint

          4  Williamsburg Waterfront that sort of goes beyond

          5  what the WAP provided for by looking at other

          6  construction standards, design standards,

          7  programming aspects of the waterfront. That

          8  framework plan should be created, maybe in reference

          9  to what Councilman Gerson referenced, in

         10  anticipation of development, not in a reactive mode.

         11                 And third and finally, the Greenpoint

         12  Williamsburg waterfront, the City Council and the

         13  Administration created a Waterfront Access Fund that

         14  was to provide an incentive for private sector

         15  developers to enter into this kind of agreement.

         16  That fund specifically is going to rely on some

         17  funding that's going to be available through the

         18  sale of air rights, that funding is not going to be

         19  available for a few years. We would call on the City

         20  Council and the Administration to forward some

         21  funding in advance of those sale of air rights in

         22  this fiscal year, because otherwise, you know, the

         23  developers are making their plans now, and it's

         24  just, they're not going to be able to wait for that

         25  funding to come, which may be speculative, or is in
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          2  part speculative as to the exact amount of money

          3  that's going to be available. Maybe that should be

          4  allocated now.

          5                 That fund could also be used if it

          6  was expanded, could also be used in particular in

          7  low-income areas where the provision of private

          8  sector money is not going to be available to create

          9  waterfront access.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you.

         11                 MR. PIRANI: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: It's good to see

         13  that the Greenpoint Williamsburg Plan is so well

         14  established and looked at so highly.

         15                 Thank you. Okay, next.

         16                 MR. PIRANI: Aspects of it at least.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Yes, aspects of it

         18  at least.

         19                 We want to continue really trying to

         20  keep it, if we can, to three minutes. I'd appreciate

         21  that.

         22                 MS. TILDEN: I will. Sue Tilden, with

         23  Heyer & Gruel. I'm a planner in the State of New

         24  Jersey, with a private planning firm who was under

         25  contract to Hudson County, New Jersey, just across
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          2  the Hudson, to look at, study the status of the

          3  Hudson River waterfront walkway and recommend

          4  implementation strategies in order to get it built.

          5                 I will say in New Jersey we've done

          6  it all wrong. But we've done one thing absolutely

          7  right, and that is to have the overall vision. And

          8  for that, I think we can actually thank the RPA.

          9  Back in the '60s they had a vision, espoused by

         10  numerous groups that quickly bought into this idea,

         11  and have continued very strongly over the years,

         12  bridge to bridge, George Washington Bridge to the

         13  Bayonne Bridge, continuous, uninterrupted public

         14  access waterfront walkway. So that you could

         15  actually get to the water and enjoy it for that

         16  entire distance.

         17                 Hudson County in 2000 got a Smart

         18  Growth Grant from the State of New Jersey to

         19  implement this study, and I have brought a copy of

         20  it along for you. I'd be glad to pass it down the

         21  line if you'd like. It's an implementation plan for

         22  how to get the thing finally built.

         23                 It is, as many of you probably know,

         24  actually in a pretty good state right now, probably

         25  more due to the fact of the increased desirability

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON LAND USE

          2  of the waterfront for other uses than maritime uses.

          3  Jersey City's development is widely known. These

          4  kind of things, especially since 9/11, has really

          5  pushed this waterfront walkway development along.

          6                 But it's fraught with problems, and

          7  the problems largely stem from the fact that it was

          8  developed as a walkway that was to be built by

          9  individual developers.

         10                 And many of the problems, in fact,

         11  most of the problems of the walkway, both

         12  implementation, operation, maintenance, security

         13  problems, et cetera, stem from the fact that it is

         14  all in private hands, and when I say private, it

         15  could be some public portions, but each one is a

         16  different owner per parcel, and area along the way.

         17                 This did not include, by the way,

         18  Bergen County, because we were only hired by Hudson

         19  County to do the study. We actually surveyed every

         20  single parcel, and we do provide a centerfold with

         21  this plan. This centerfold is color coordinated,

         22  which follows through the entire plan booklet here,

         23  which shows you can follow along as to what is open

         24  walkway, is impassable walkway but designated what's

         25  planned walkway. Purple will designate the areas
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          2  where there will never be a walkway in the

          3  foreseeable 20 to 25 year horizon that we were kind

          4  of looking at here, due to maritime uses. Could be

          5  some actual shipping operations, Coast Guard, tank

          6  farms, this kind of thing.

          7                 Therefore, we came up with some

          8  conclusions based upon our investigation of this,

          9  and the way the New Jersey program worked was that

         10  as a development permit was pulled, the DEP,

         11  Department of Environmental Protection in the State

         12  of New Jersey administered these permits and

         13  required that a walkway would be built.

         14                 As a matter of fact, New Jersey has

         15  had design guidelines in place since the

         16  mid-eighties. And these, I must say, have mixed

         17  results.

         18                 Some people built to that standard,

         19  others did not. The various construction qualities

         20  along the walkway are extremely varied, and there

         21  have been no successful mechanisms for going back

         22  and making sure that things were brought up to speed

         23  or whatever.

         24                 Therefore the recommendation, and

         25  probably the way they're going to continue, is
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          2  through first trying to enter into some memorandums

          3  of understanding with the various developers and

          4  operators along the walkway alignment. There are

          5  virtually no teeth to do this, which is a big

          6  recommendation. You need to have either, if you're

          7  going to pursue individual ownership of these

          8  properties --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry. Let

         10  me, what I'd like to do is, I know we still have to

         11  hear from Mr. Gentile, and then we can proceed to

         12  questions.

         13                 I'm sorry, you're Ms. Tilden. I

         14  apologize. I apologize.

         15                 MS. TILDEN: Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So why don't we

         17  hear from Mr. Gentile and then we can proceed to

         18  questions. Thank you.

         19                 MR. GENTILE: Good afternoon. I'm Alan

         20  Gentile. I'm the New York City Issues Coordinator

         21  for the Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance.

         22                 We are a five-state network with over

         23  300 organizations focused on planning for a better

         24  waterfront. I appreciate the opportunity to testify.

         25                 One of our core tasks is to ensure
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          2  that mistakes made in waterfront planning and design

          3  are not repeated throughout the region, and relying

          4  on private developers to create public space in New

          5  York is a huge mistake for the City.

          6                 Across the River in Hudson County, as

          7  Ms. Tilden was speaking about, the waterfront is

          8  seen as similar transformation as New York over the

          9  last few decades, as warehouses and wharves have

         10  morphed into offices and condominiums.

         11                 Access to the waterfront, as required

         12  by the public trust doctrine has here been achieved

         13  by requiring private developers to provide public

         14  access in the form of promenades, boat launches,

         15  fishing piers and ferry landings. Similarly, New

         16  York City's waterfront zoning requires public access

         17  in many areas. Still, there are problems that have

         18  arisen from this methodology.

         19                 The MWA would like to stress four

         20  foreseeable problems with the increase of

         21  developer-managed waterfront public access spaces,

         22  particularly in areas like the newly planned

         23  esplanade in Greenpoint and Williamsburg:

         24                 - Privatization.

         25                 - Poor maintenance.
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          2                 - Lack of connectivity; and

          3                 - Lack of creativity.

          4                 New York City's point of reference

          5  for this development model are Privately Owned

          6  Public Spaces. The plazas and arcades in Midtown and

          7  Downtown that allow owners to build taller and

          8  bigger buildings. While there are some exemplary

          9  plazas that provide real resting space for Manhattan

         10  employees, the City has waged a seemingly endless

         11  battle to prevent others from using their spaces for

         12  parking, trash disposal or worse.

         13                 Without personnel and budget

         14  enforcement, private management of public spaces is

         15  a risky proposition. We have already begun to see

         16  public access shut down by private developers.

         17  Visitors to sites like Shore Towers in Astoria,

         18  Costco in Long Island City and Waterside in

         19  Manhattan, which are required to provide public

         20  waterfront access, are often greeted by locked gates

         21  or inadequate connections.

         22                 Neighborhoods like Clason Point in

         23  the Bronx, Tottenville in Staten Island and

         24  Beechurst and Whitestone in Queens are examples of

         25  neighborhoods where access to the waterfront is
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          2  declining due to lower density residential

          3  development patterns.

          4                 According to the City's waterfront

          5  zoning regulations, lower density development does

          6  not require public access, effectively creating a

          7  privatized waterfront inaccessible to the greater

          8  community.

          9                 It is situations like these that

         10  should impel us to seek other publicly-funded

         11  waterfront space opportunities throughout the City,

         12  such as street-end parks and vacant parcels, as well

         13  as by creating partnerships with the private sector

         14  to increase waterfront access.

         15                 The City should take the initiative

         16  and new developments to ensure that its residents

         17  receive the best possible waterfront.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity. Within

         19  the written testimony there is more information. I

         20  would encourage you to read it.

         21                 I'll be happy to answer any

         22  questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I just would like to for a moment
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          2  understand the New Jersey experience. In what

          3  exactly, how are the requirements formalized? In

          4  other words were these deed restrictions, as they

          5  were done here in Manhattan?

          6                 MS. TILDEN: It's a permit

          7  requirement. When they pulled a permit when the

          8  developer, and this goes back to the eighties, when

          9  a development was -- a permit was pulled, DEP had

         10  the jurisdiction to hold up those permits based upon

         11  receiving a satisfactory, and the standards were

         12  established by design guidelines, et cetera.

         13                 Now, that said, there was never any

         14  real design overview to make sure. It was pretty

         15  much whoever was the permitting officer. Such things

         16  were established as a 30-foot wide right of way

         17  alignment, with at least a 15 foot paved area.

         18                 I will say that many of those permits

         19  were lost. We had quite a search with our partner

         20  engineering firm to find those actual permits.

         21  Again, there was no provision made for going back in

         22  how you would actually ever police the fact that it

         23  got built to the right standard, so it was pretty

         24  much, as --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's what I was
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          2  wondering about, the enforcement part. In other

          3  words, if it was a condition of, in theory, I guess

          4  what we would here call a Building permit.

          5                 MS. TILDEN: Basically construction

          6  permit.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Construction

          8  permit, that you have a plan to do the waterfront

          9  part, but if, you know, if somebody just flagrantly,

         10  and let's take the flagrant example, of somebody

         11  flagrantly just doesn't even do, doesn't even make

         12  an attempt of what was in their waterfront plan,

         13  what's the consequence?

         14                 The reason I'm asking, I'm wondering

         15  if we can have more confidence here, because we do

         16  have some consequences.

         17                 MS. TILDEN: It sounds like you've had

         18  some lessons learned here, especially at these

         19  restrictive declarations are a great step. They're

         20  something like the memorandum of understanding. But

         21  I think what's missing from everything that I've

         22  heard is this overall vision of what you want to

         23  have along your waterfront, in terms of elements of

         24  continuity. And that's a key concept, is elements of

         25  continuity, a signal to the public that you are on
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          2  the public walkway. And then elements of

          3  differentiation by the various developers, et

          4  cetera.

          5                 What the best examples of a good,

          6  quote, walkway model is San Antonio, and that is

          7  included in the plan there, along with the reference

          8  numbers and context for the people in river

          9  operations for the San Antonio Parks Department that

         10  actually administered this. It's actually a great

         11  model and they can probably answer a lot of

         12  questions as you go forward here.

         13                 One thing I will say is there's an

         14  over-emphasis, I think, on Parks Departments, and

         15  the Parks Departments go along with the idea of open

         16  space and recreation. I think one thing leaps out at

         17  me from the New Jersey experience, and the portions

         18  that had been built are now really more

         19  appropriately a public transportation alternative.

         20                 There is a tremendous amount of

         21  movement, particularly along with the Hudson Bergen

         22  Lightrail, the ferries, all these systems along that

         23  waterfront should get both commercial and

         24  residential built. You might want to think in terms

         25  of a rather new type of concept that was discussed
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          2  with the Department of Transportation in New Jersey,

          3  as a matter of fact, Deputy Commissioner Keck,

          4  non-vehicular public roadway.

          5                 You can have a roadway along it.

          6  Miami Beach has a wonderful roadway along its strip

          7  with a walkway, but don't necessarily have to have a

          8  road. There are standards, there are Departments of

          9  Transportation, Public Works have great standards

         10  for construction, maintenance, operations, security

         11  jurisdictions, this kind of thing, that are sort of

         12  already there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, thank

         14  you. I just want to thank the whole panel. Your

         15  testimony was extremely useful. You know, in some

         16  ways the first test, the first real test of our

         17  waterfront zoning regulations is going to come over

         18  the next year or so in the first couple of projects

         19  in Greenpoint Williamsburg moving forward, and I

         20  would hope that, you know, we can call on you to

         21  give us feedback as we see how this turns out. I

         22  don't know that there's much a role for the Council

         23  at this point, because we've put the framework in

         24  place, we're going to see how it turns out in the

         25  first couple of projects before we can make any
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          2  further I think concrete thoughts about how our

          3  policy needs to be changed.

          4                 So, I thank you very much, and I hope

          5  we can call on you as this goes forward.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: I need to just take

          7  care of another housekeeping item.

          8                 Council Member Oddo, the Land Use

          9  Committee voted on several items, including the

         10  landmarking of 184 Kent. An aye on all is an aye on

         11  the entire agenda, which includes a disapproval of

         12  the landmarking of 184 Kent.

         13                 How do you vote?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         15  Chair. I appreciate you keeping it open. We were at

         16  a Public Safety Committee with Chairman Vallone and

         17  the last witness was Staten Island District Attorney

         18  Donovan, and I didn't want to miss him. Just in

         19  case, you know? Just in case.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Details.

         21  Priorities.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I vote aye on

         23  all. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Thank you,

         25  Councilman Oddo.
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          2                 I believe Councilman Gerson has a

          3  short question for the panel.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Actually, I

          5  hear the emphasis. Actually just a short comment, a

          6  suggestion, to which you're welcome to react.

          7  Picking up on Bob Pirani's point of holistic

          8  planning and interconnectivity, the suggestion is

          9  something which I've discussed with Council Member

         10  Yassky, as a good starting point or one of several

         11  good starting points, and that is bringing together,

         12  would be bringing together the developments, the

         13  park developments on the two sides of the East

         14  River, the Brooklyn Bridge and adjoining park areas

         15  with the proposed East River Park area to perhaps

         16  create our City's first cross river park, in terms

         17  of physical and programmatic interconnection,

         18  enabling park to park direct transportation, either

         19  across the water through subtle ferries or walkways

         20  or bike pass that go over the bridges but from one

         21  part to the other, and then programmatic planning

         22  which takes account of synergistic opportunities of

         23  the two sides of the river. I think that might be a

         24  good place perhaps to test this idea of

         25  interconnectivity and holistic planning. So I put
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          2  that out there.

          3                 MR. PIRANI: That's a great

          4  suggestion. I would add Governors Island, of course,

          5  to the list of waterfronts in that stretch.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I think

          7  that's a good addition. Told you I'd be short.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Gerson.

         10                 Thank you, again. I thank this panel,

         11  and we now will hear from Helen, from the Hudson

         12  River Waterfront Conservancy, and James Cavanaugh

         13  from the City Authority.

         14                 MS. MANOGUE: Okay, I represent the

         15  Hudson River Waterfront Conservancy, which is a

         16  group that was created by the New Jersey Department

         17  of Environmental Protection back in 1988 to assist

         18  it in achieving the completion of the Hudson River

         19  Walkway. And as I think Rob Pirani mentioned before,

         20  the walkway is envisioned to be an 18 mile stretch

         21  from the George Washington Bridge down to the

         22  Bayonne Bridge.

         23                 The developer of property in that

         24  stretch is required to present an easement of land,

         25  right adjacent to the water 30 feet in from the

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON LAND USE

          2  water edge as public open space.

          3                 Sue Tilden rightly said this whole

          4  area, the whole 18 miles, is fraught with problems.

          5  We did it the wrong way. I think we're finding that

          6  out all the time, and we are now, as the Councilman

          7  previously said, we're dealing with Hades there in

          8  trying to get this situation ameliorated.

          9                 I have to tell you, however, that I

         10  think from hearing everything that went on here

         11  earlier today, you're far ahead of us and I think

         12  you're coming at this in exactly the right way.

         13  You're trying to enforce your regulations which we

         14  cannot do.

         15                 Part of our problem is that all of

         16  these permits go through the State, and the DEP is

         17  supposed to send to the Hudson River Waterfront

         18  Conservancy, the plans for each one of the projects

         19  that are going up along that waterfront.

         20                 In many cases that doesn't happen, we

         21  find out about the development belatedly, so we're

         22  coming in after many of the basic decisions have

         23  been made.

         24                 Even if we do see the plans early on,

         25  many times our decisions are not paid any attention
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          2  to and the waterfront permits are given without the

          3  necessary obligatory look at the walkway itself and

          4  how it is going to be set up.

          5                 Several of the people have talked

          6  about the fact of identification of the waterfront

          7  as being absolutely critical.

          8                 In our case we are constantly being

          9  beleaguered by the fact that people cannot make a

         10  differentiation between what is the public walkway

         11  and what is private property. And that has happened

         12  because the original plans have not been scrutinized

         13  well enough to determine whether they're going to be

         14  berms or landscaping or fencing or something there

         15  to make that demarcation between the public and the

         16  private, and that's been one of our major problems.

         17                 Another thing, and I think most of

         18  the other people have already commented on this and

         19  gotten into the whole thing about the consistency of

         20  quality of materials that are used in making up the

         21  walkway itself, of creating it, our developers have

         22  to, whether they be public or private, whether

         23  they're doing residential or commercial, they must,

         24  in fact, not only create the walkway, but they also

         25  have to maintain it out of their own pockets.
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          2                 And your ideas, and, in fact, I've

          3  been taking copious notes which I'm going back with,

          4  because I think we can learn from you more than you

          5  can learn from us, but I think one of the biggest

          6  problems we've been having is that these communities

          7  have been developed, the residential communities

          8  have been developed too close to the walkway itself,

          9  and so we have owners of property now, and tenants

         10  in these various residential areas who are furious

         11  about the fact that that public walkway is out

         12  there. They weren't told ahead of time, and that is

         13  one of the things that we really have to get after

         14  with our developers, that they make known to the

         15  people who are going to buy or rent, that that area

         16  out there which in their marketing they call this

         17  splendid esplanade, is not theirs and that it

         18  belongs to the people of New Jersey.

         19                 But I wish you luck. If there is any

         20  way we can help you, I don't know that we can, but

         21  if we can do that, we'll be more than delighted to

         22  be of assistance.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, Mr.

         24  Cavanaugh.

         25                 MR. CAVANAUGH: Thank you, Chairman
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          2  Yassky. We appreciate the opportunity to be here.

          3  I'm the President of the Battery Park City

          4  Authority, and my understanding is that you want to

          5  learn a little bit about our experience because we

          6  consider ourselves to be a good example of a mixed

          7  residential, commercial and open space environment.

          8                 We were created by an act of the

          9  State Legislature, 1968, with the idea that we would

         10  develop and manage 92 acres of property on the Lower

         11  West Side immediately adjacent to the World Trade

         12  Center site. We're a public benefit corporation and

         13  we develop it, develop the property using a ground

         14  lease model. We don't build buildings, we do RFPs on

         15  a competitive basis, and builders come in and build

         16  the buildings on our property subject to a long-term

         17  ground lease currently through 2069.

         18                 At the end of every year we forward

         19  to New York City any excess revenues that result

         20  from both pilot payments and also ground lease

         21  revenues, and over the last couple of years we've

         22  averaged about a little over $100 million a year to

         23  New York City in terms of excess revenues.

         24                 Developing this amount of property

         25  was, as you might imagine, an immense undertaking,
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          2  and it was decided very early on that we would

          3  undertake a very comprehensive planning process.

          4                 There were a couple of comprehensive

          5  plans that were developed and abandoned, and

          6  ultimately in 1979 we adopted a master plan designed

          7  by Cooper Eckstut which outlined a commercial core,

          8  which is where the World Financial Center is today,

          9  and a northern and southern residential area, and

         10  important to you and all of us, 30 acres of parks

         11  scattered throughout that 92 acre site.

         12                 The first building to go up was

         13  Gateway Plaza, which is a complex of five buildings

         14  constructed by Lefrak, using HUD guarantees, and

         15  following that, work did begin on the World

         16  Financial Center, and we managed to have developers

         17  put up a dozen more residential towers before the

         18  real estate market declined in the late 1980s, and

         19  for a time developers did lose a little interest in

         20  Battery Park City.

         21                 But during that 1980s spurt of

         22  development, we did build our first park, Rector

         23  Park, which is a 43,000 square foot park divided in

         24  the center by South End Avenue, and, you know, the

         25  thought behind this was to provided needed open
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          2  space for the residents.

          3                 Following Rector Park we began

          4  construction of the 1.2 mile esplanade, we build

          5  South Cove, the North End Avenue Islands,

          6  Rockefeller Park, the North Cove Marina, Wagner

          7  Park, the Belvedere and two temporary ball fields.

          8                 In the '90s there was a renewed

          9  interest in Battery Park City, development surged,

         10  and, again, the thing that became obvious to us was

         11  the need for continued open space.

         12                 So, as we went forward we built the

         13  Irish Hunger Memorial, we built -- the temporary

         14  ballfields became permanent. These are two athletic

         15  fields that are used for soccer, little league,

         16  year-round use. And that property had originally

         17  been slated for residential development and the

         18  community and the Authority determined that it would

         19  be better used for open space dedicated to the

         20  community.

         21                 Last year, in 2004, we dedicated

         22  Teardrop, which is a 70,000 square foot park located

         23  at the center of four buildings around what was

         24  originally a designated City street. That City

         25  street was demapped, I believe, and is now partially
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          2  the park.

          3                 In the future, we're going to expand

          4  that park across Murray Street. In 2005 we also

          5  dedicated the Kowsky Plaza Dog Run, a Tot Lot. Next

          6  year we'll be expanding the landscaping around the

          7  Museum of Jewish Heritage.

          8                 And again, part of this added green

          9  space was once a street which has been demapped.

         10                 Next year we'll be opening the North

         11  End Avenue Islands, one will be a dog run, one will

         12  be a passive seating area, and one will be a nursery

         13  for our Parks Conservancy.

         14                 At this point, nearly 40 percent of

         15  our 92 acres are dedicated to parks and open space,

         16  and that really is a significant increase from what

         17  we thought was already a pretty generous allotment

         18  of open space in that 1979 master plan. What

         19  happened as we went on was clearly the community saw

         20  a need to go beyond that original outline in terms

         21  of open space.

         22                 What we've done also in recent years,

         23  is require from developers as they put buildings up

         24  to create an amenity in buildings.

         25                 We had the Skyscraper Museum in the
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          2  Ritz Carlton Hotel and Towers, and the Skyscraper

          3  Museum gets a dollar a year lease. We own the space,

          4  the developers are required to provide that space to

          5  the authority as a condition they're proposing.

          6                 In the future, we'll be bringing the

          7  poet's house to Battery Park City. We will be

          8  opening a World Hunger Education Center and a branch

          9  of the New York Public Library.

         10                 Again, these will be located on site

         11  16 and 17, and again the developer is required to

         12  provide this space to us as a condition of their

         13  winning the RFP.

         14                 So, I think the message in all of

         15  this is while there are those who always agreed with

         16  their plan of going beyond the original open space

         17  allotment and requiring these amenities, you know,

         18  we think in terms of both adding to real estate

         19  values of the rest of Battery Park City and

         20  certainly in improving quality of life, we think

         21  that the result has been successful.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         23                 Well, thank you. First of all, Ms.

         24  Manogue, you said you have more to learn from the

         25  City, you know, I guess I hope that proves to be
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          2  true.

          3                 I will just tell you that in our

          4  really years of preparing the most significant

          5  waterfront zoning we've done to date, which is

          6  Greenpoint Williamsburg, the New Jersey example is

          7  very much in people's minds lessons to be learned.

          8  In some ways, by your kind of having gone ahead, I

          9  hope helped the City to do it, you know, to learn

         10  from your experience.

         11                 MS. MANOGUE: That's very gracious of

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: No, it's just the

         14  truth.

         15                 Mr. Cavanaugh, I guess I do

         16  personally admire a lot of what's been done at

         17  Battery Park City. I think that it does stand as an

         18  example. There it's a very different structure,

         19  obviously. You're a government entity --

         20                 MR. CAVANAUGH: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: -- A

         22  government-controlled entity, so there's no question

         23  that the public interest is going to be first and

         24  foremost in your priorities. And I'll just ask you

         25  briefly, because I know we have a 1:00 hearing, and
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          2  we have questions, what advice do you have for the

          3  City government, as they now embark on this project

          4  of managing the private owners of property to make

          5  sure that public access is maximized?

          6                 MR. CAVANAUGH: Well, I think it's

          7  very important to set the ground rules out very

          8  early and be very clear and not compromise once you

          9  put those out there.

         10                 I mean, really one of the experiences

         11  we have is we'll put an RFP out and the developers

         12  will come in, and we'll say you've got to provide

         13  this amenity, or you've got to provide this level of

         14  public space. A developer will win the bid and then

         15  immediately try to negotiate down the amount of

         16  public space, and they've always got great reasons

         17  why it can't be done, and our job is to stand firm

         18  and say, look, you knew the ground rules coming in,

         19  we're not going to negotiate them down and

         20  shortchange the public, for whatever reason. And I

         21  think that, you know, anyone trying to do what we do

         22  will face that challenge.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I think that is

         24  such an important point. You know, the process you

         25  describe is exactly, of course, takes place all
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          2  over, the zoning is what it is, and people come in

          3  and buy and they say, well, we've paid so much, now

          4  we need relief from the zoning.

          5                 MR. CAVANAUGH: We get that argument

          6  frequently.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It is what it is.

          8  And if people are not prepared to comply with that,

          9  then they shouldn't buy the property at that

         10  inflated price.

         11                 Council Member Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just have a

         13  very simple question for Mr. Cavanaugh regarding the

         14  ballfields, because there is a move on to have --

         15  supported by parents, and certainly I've done this

         16  in Riverside Park, to use field turf. And I was just

         17  wondering, and I know this isn't particularly a Land

         18  Use issue, but it is in the broadest sense, and it's

         19  certainly becoming quite an issue in our

         20  communities. So, I don't know what kind of turf you

         21  have or what you think works in terms of these

         22  public parks.

         23                 MR. CAVANAUGH: We have natural turf

         24  and we feel that fits in with Battery Park City's

         25  mission of sustainable development, and we had the
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          2  world's first green highrise, so there was never any

          3  doubt in our mind that we would go with natural

          4  grass. We'll tell you, there's a high cost of

          5  upkeep. Our cost per acre to maintain that is far in

          6  above what field turf would be, but we take pride in

          7  the fact that we're able to provide this natural

          8  grass environment where it is. And it gets very

          9  heavy use.

         10                 The downside? We have to close the

         11  field at least one day a week. We can't let it be

         12  used seven days a week. It needs a little bit of

         13  rest. When it's wet we can't let people use it,

         14  because one day of soccer use in that field will

         15  destroy it for months to come.

         16                 So, there are certain disadvantages.

         17  But to us, and we might be right or wrong about

         18  this, there's a certain symbolism in having natural

         19  turf.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We would like

         21  to do it everywhere. The Parks Department is limited

         22  in their ability to do that, so in some of the parks

         23  we're now putting in field turf.

         24                 MR. CAVANAUGH: If your restrictions

         25  are cost and your criteria is that you have to get
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          2  maximum use out of it, you're probably going to look

          3  very favorably upon the turf.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council Member

          7  Gerson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Cavanaugh,

          9  let me just first of all, first and foremost, as

         10  this is, at least to my knowledge, your first formal

         11  visit to the City Council in your current capacity,

         12  as your City Council representative let me welcome

         13  you and state that I look forward to working very

         14  closely with you to continue the stellar exemplary

         15  record of Battery Park City in serving residents,

         16  the commercial community, and the environment. In

         17  knowing of you, I have no doubt that we have the

         18  right person at the helm to step into the big shoes

         19  that precedes you, and of course, with Tisha Romano,

         20  with her at your side there's no doubt that we'll

         21  continue to succeed, and I look forward to that.

         22                 All that being said, leave it to my

         23  colleague Council Member Brewer to stumble onto one

         24  of the vexing issues, and I think you're right in

         25  pointing out the pros and cons of natural versus
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          2  turf and symbolism is fine, but the symbolism of

          3  maximum use of young children being able to play

          4  also is important, and I think there is a place for

          5  natural greenery and for better or for worse, within

          6  the context of reality, there also is a need for

          7  turf. And one of the conversations we're going to

          8  have to have with our community is whether in fact

          9  it's time to move, alter that ballfield to a turf

         10  field in order to allow seven-day-a-week

         11  ball-playing and more extensive periods throughout

         12  the calendar, because as you know, we're an area

         13  starved for such space, and what we're hearing from

         14  the parents and the little leagues, is that there

         15  really is inadequate time in the ballfield.

         16                 But as I said, that's a conversation

         17  I'll look forward to having with you. Since my

         18  Council, my colleague brought it up, I needed to

         19  flesh out the record, but I really wanted to

         20  primarily welcome you and say how much I look

         21  forward to working with you.

         22                 MR. CAVANAUGH: And let me just

         23  quickly thank you for your tremendous advocacy on

         24  the part of Battery Park City. We call on you

         25  frequently and you always respond and we appreciate
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          2  it. And I'm really looking forward to that

          3  conversation about turf.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, we'll

          5  set it up soon.

          6                 MR. CAVANAUGH: Yes, great.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

          8                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. And I

         10  thank my colleagues very much. I really do

         11  appreciate your coming here to share your

         12  experiences, both of your experiences with us. I

         13  will tell you quite honestly that's very helpful.

         14                 So, thank you. And with that, I will

         15  close the hearing.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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